University of Mississippi

## eGrove

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

**Graduate School** 

1-1-2019

# Continuous Production Of Raloxifene Hydrochloride Loaded Nanostructured Lipid Carriers Using Hot-Melt Extrusion Technology

Derick Muhindo

Follow this and additional works at: https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd

Part of the Pharmacology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Muhindo, Derick, "Continuous Production Of Raloxifene Hydrochloride Loaded Nanostructured Lipid Carriers Using Hot-Melt Extrusion Technology" (2019). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1935. https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd/1935

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at eGrove. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of eGrove. For more information, please contact egrove@olemiss.edu.

## CONTINUOUS PRODUCTION OF RALOXIFENE HYDROCHLORIDE LOADED NANOSTRUCTURED LIPID CARRIERS USING HOT-MELT EXTRUSION TECHNOLOGY

A Thesis Presented for the Master's in Pharmaceutical Sciences with emphasis in Pharmaceutics

Department of Pharmaceutics and Drug Delivery

The University of Mississippi

Derick Muhindo

December 2019

Copyright © 2019 by Derick Muhindo

All rights reserved

#### ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to utilize a continuous process for the production of Raloxifene Hydrochloride (RX-HCl) loaded NLC formulations for extended drug release using hot-melt extrusion technology coupled with probe sonication, and also to evaluate the *in vitro* characteristics of the prepared NLCs by particle size, PDI, zeta potential, entrapment efficiency, drug loading, and in vitro drug release profile. Preparation of the NLCs using HME technology involved two main steps, first formation of a pre-emulsion after extrusion and then size reduction of the preemulsion using probe sonication to obtain the NLCs. Process parameters for the extrusion process like feeding rates for the volumetric feeder and peristaltic pumps, were optimized. A screw speed of 100 rpm and a barrel temperature of 85 °C, were used in the extrusion process. Characterization of the NLCs involved assessment of particle size, PDI, zeta potential, entrapment efficiency, and drug loading. NLCs prepared by HME technology generally showed a lower particle size compared to those prepared by the conventional method. The prepared NLCs had high entrapment efficiency values (>90 %). In vitro drug release was evaluated using dialysis bag diffusion technique and USP apparatus 1 (rotating basket). The pure drug showed a faster rate of drug release compared to the NLCs which showed an extended release of the drug. NLCs prepared by HME technology generally showed a higher rate of drug release compared to those prepared by the conventional method. Particle size of the prepared NLCs remained relatively stable over the storage period and all PDI and zeta potential values were  $\leq 0.523$  and in the range of -15 to -30 mV, respectively, indicating good physical stability of the formulations. In summary, HME

technology and probe sonication were successfully used to prepare RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations as a continuous manufacturing process with shorter processing times as compared to the conventional method, which makes this technique a more industry friendly method.

## DEDICATION

To my family, for their unwavering support, for their kindness and understanding, and for their

love.

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS OR SYMBOLS

- HME: Hot-Melt Extrusion
- MWCO: Molecular Weight Cut Off
- NLC: Nanostructured Lipid Carriers
- PDI: Polydispersity Index
- RX-HCI: Raloxifene Hydrochloride
- SLN: Solid Lipid Nanoparticles
- T<sub>g</sub>: Glass transition temperature
- T<sub>m</sub>: Melting temperature
- v/v: Volume by volume
- w/v: Weight by volume
- w/w: Weight by weight

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. Michael A. Repka for his great friendship, relentless support, and guidance throughout my research project.

Dr. Eman Ashour for her unwavering support and great mentorship throughout my research project.

Dr. Soumyajit Majumdar for his kindness, friendship, and support as a member of my thesis committee.

Dr. Suresh Bandari, Dr. Narendar Dudhipala, Mashan Almutairi, Sandeep Sarabu, Poorva Joshi, Samir Senapati, and Corinne Sweeney for their kindness, love, and willingness to help throughout my research project.

All faculty, staff, and graduate students of the Pharmaceutics and Drug Delivery department for their support both academically and socially.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS OR SYMBOLS	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS	4
2.1. MATERIALS	4
2.2. METHODS	4
2.2.1. Selection of Solid Lipids, Liquid Lipids, and Surfactants	4
2.2.2. Preparation of NLC Formulations	5
2.2.3. Characterization of NLC Formulations	7
2.2.4. HPLC Analysis Method for Raloxifene Hydrochloride	
2.2.5. In vitro Drug Release Studies	9
2.2.6. Stability Study	

CHAPTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
3.1. SELECTION OF SOLID LIPIDS, LIQUID LIPIDS, AND SURFACT	<b>FANTS</b> 11
3.2. PREPARATION OF NLC FORMULATIONS	
3.3. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE NLC FORMULATIONS	
3.4. ENTRAPMENT EFFICIENCY AND DRUG LOADING	14
3.5. IN VITRO DRUG RELEASE STUDIES	
3.6. STABILITY STUDIES	
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
VITA	

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1.</b> Composition of blank NLC formulations	7
<b>Table 2.</b> Particle size, PDI, and zeta potential of the drug loaded NLCs	. 20

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Chemical Structure of RX-HCl	3
Figure 2. Schematic representation of preparation of RX-HCl loaded NLCs using HME	
technology coupled with probe sonication	9
Figure 3. Screw configuration used for the extrusion process	. 10
Figure 4. Particle size, PDI, and zeta potential for the blank NLC formulations	. 15
Figure 5. Percent entrapment efficiency and drug loading for the prepared NLC formulations.	. 16
Figure 6. In vitro drug release profile of the prepared RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations	. 18

#### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLCs) are a second generation of lipid nanoparticles which offer some advantages over the Solid Lipid Nanoparticles (SLNs) [1]. Advantages offered by the NLCs over the SLNs include higher drug incorporation capacity, improved drug release properties, easier manufacturing process, and less amount of stabilizers required compared to the SLNs [2]. NLCs are produced using a combination of solid lipids and liquid lipids which are organized in nanocompartments inside the solid lipid matrix [3]. The Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (API) in the NLC is incorporated in the liquid lipid and is encapsulated by the solid lipid [3]. This configuration gives the drug some degree of mobility and offers stability to some extent [3]. NLCs are safe and compatible colloidal drug carriers which are able to provide controlled delivery of the API and have various drug delivery applications via the oral, dermal, pulmonary, and ocular routes [4].

Various methods have been used to produce NLCs and most of these methods have been reported in literature and they include high-pressure homogenization, micro-emulsification, solvent displacement, supercritical fluid technology, high-shear homogenization, and ultrasonication [4]. However, these methods have some disadvantages that include multistep processing, poor energy efficiency, potential for dilution of particle dispersion, and frequent failures due to batch-to-batch variations [3]. These disadvantages make the conventional methods used for NLC production less industry friendly. Hot-melt extrusion (HME) processing was established in the early 1930s and during that time it rapidly became the most widely applied processing technology in the plastic, rubber, and food industries [5]. HME is a continuous pharmaceutical process that involves pumping polymeric materials with a rotating screw at temperatures above their glass transition temperature (Tg) and sometimes above the melting temperature (T<sub>m</sub>) to achieve molecular level mixing of the active compounds and thermoplastic binders, polymers, or other excipients [5]. This molecular level mixing converts the components into an amorphous product with a uniform shape and density, thereby increasing the dissolution profile of the poorly water soluble drug [5]. HME has gained increased interest in the pharmaceutical industry due to advantages that include: HME provides faster and more efficient time to achieve the final product, environmental advantages due to the elimination of solvent use, increased efficiency of drug delivery to the patient, formulations with high drug loading can be manufactured by HME with the desired release profile, good content uniformity can be achieved for very low drug loading due to intimate mixing of components, HME allows conversion of API to amorphous form which can result in enhanced bioavailability, HME is a scalable continuous process and product quality can be monitored online, inline, or offline, and desired dosage forms can be easily manufactured by HME process [5], [6]. HME technology gained a lot of attention and importance in the recent decade after the US Food and Drug Administration encouraged the use of continuous manufacturing processes [3].

RX-HCl is a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) with a chemical structure as depicted in Figure 1. RX-HCl acts as an estrogen agonist on bone and on the liver and therefore increases bone mineral density and decreases fracture incidence [7]. It is used in the prevention of osteoporosis and prevention of invasive breast cancer in postmenopausal women, although, its therapeutic efficacy is limited by its low solubility in physiological pH conditions and also undergoes extensive first pass metabolism [7].

In the current study, a continuous production process will be used for the production of RX-HCl loaded NLCs for extended drug release using hot-melt extrusion technology coupled with probe sonication. Physicochemical characteristics of the prepared NLC formulations will be evaluated by particle size, polydispersity index (PDI), zeta potential, entrapment efficiency, drug loading, and *in vitro* drug release. Process parameters for the extrusion process like feeding rates for the volumetric feeder and peristaltic pumps, were optimized. The continuous production process used in this study will overcome most of the limitations presented by the conventional methods.



HCI

Figure 1. Chemical Structure of RX-HCl

#### **CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **2.1. MATERIALS**

RX-HCl, liquid lipids (capmul MCM C8, castor oil, and labrafil M 1944 CS), and surfactants (polysorbate 80, polysorbate 20, and cremophor EL) were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Hanover Park, IL USA). Solid lipids, glyceryl monostearate, compritol 888ATO, precirol ATO5, and dynasan 118 were gifted from Gattefossé (Paramus, NJ USA). All other chemicals and solvents (methanol, acetonitrile) used in the study were of HPLC grade and de-ionized water was used throughout the study.

#### **2.2. METHODS**

#### 2.2.1. Selection of Solid Lipids, Liquid Lipids, and Surfactants

Solid lipids were selected by checking the solubility of RX-HCl in melted solid lipid by means of visual observation with the naked eyes under normal light. This was further characterized with HPLC analysis. Solid lipids, glyceryl monostearate, compritol 888ATO, precirol ATO5, and dynasan 118 were screened for their potential to solubilize RX-HCl. Liquid lipids, capmul MCM C8, castor Oil, and labrafil M 1944 CS, were screened for their potential to solubilize RX-HCl. RX-HCl compatibility with various 1 % surfactant solutions, polysorbate 80, polysorbate 20, and cremophor EL was assessed. After the screening studies, two solid lipids, two liquid lipids, and

two surfactants were selected for further studies. The solid and liquid lipids used in this study were reported to be safe, biocompatible, and biodegradable. All experiments were conducted in triplicate.

#### **2.2.2. Preparation of NLC Formulations**

Two batches consisting of 24 blank NLC formulations in each batch, were prepared by the conventional probe sonication method. The 1<sup>st</sup> batch consisted of only one primary surfactant while the 2<sup>nd</sup> batch consisted of a primary surfactant and a co-surfactant. Composition of the blank NLC formulations is as shown in Table 1. All prepared formulations were stored at 25  $^{\circ}C/$  60 % RH to check for stability. Based on the stability results, formulations F4-2 and F4-3 from the 2<sup>nd</sup> batch were selected for the preparation of RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations using conventional probe sonication and HME methods. The concentration (% w/v) of the solid and liquid lipids, surfactants, and co-surfactant (Poloxamer 188) in the drug-loaded NLC formulations, is as shown in Table 1 and RX-HCl concentration was kept constant at 1.2 % w/v in all the formulations. Preparation of RX-HCL loaded NLCs using HME technology involved two main steps. The first step involved the formation of a pre-emulsion by extruding a combination of solid lipid, RX-HCl, liquid lipid, and the aqueous phase through the HME barrel, and the second step involved size reduction of the pre-emulsion utilizing probe sonication to obtain the NLC formulation. Extrusion was carried out on an 11-mm co-rotating twin screw extruder (11-mm Process 11<sup>TM</sup>, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Karlsruhe, Germany). Schematic representation of preparation of the NLC formulations using HME and probe sonication is as shown in Figure 2. The solid lipid was passed through a sieve (Standard Mesh No. 16) for size reduction and to improve its flowability. RX-HCl was uniformly mixed with the solid lipid, and introduced in the barrel using a volumetric feeder. Liquid lipid and aqueous phase (solution of surfactants and water) were heated to 85 °C and then respectively, injected in zone 2 and zone 4 of the barrel using peristaltic pumps. A screw speed of 100 rpm, barrel temperature of 85 °C, and sonication time of 10 minutes, were used in this study. Volumetric feeder and peristaltic pump feeding rates were optimized in this study. Figure 3 shows the screw configuration [3], with a barrel temperature of 85 °C that was used for the extrusion process. The pre-emulsion obtained was subjected to probe sonication (SONICS Vibracell<sup>™</sup>, Sonics and Material, Inc., Newton, CT) with an amplitude of 40 %, to obtain the RX-HCl loaded NLCs.

Formulation	Composition (%w/v)										
	Solid Lipids		Liqui	Liquid Lipids		Surfactants					
					1st Batch		2nd Batch				
	Glyceryl Monostearate	Compritol 888ATO	Capmul MCM C8	Castor Oil	Polysorbate 80	Cremophor EL	Polysorbate 80	Co-surfactant	Cremophor EL	Co-surfactant	
F1-1	5		1			1			0.75	0.25	
F1-2	4.5		1.5	ľ.	1	1			0.75	0.25	
F1-3	4		2			1			0.75	0.25	
F2-1	5		1		1		0.75	0.25			
F2-2	4.5	22	1.5		1	1	0.75	0.25		1	
F2-3	4	0	2		1		0.75	0.25	-		
F3-1	5	2		1		1	1		0.75	0.25	
F3-2	4.5			1.5		1			0.75	0.25	
F3-3	4			2		1			0.75	0.25	
F4-1	5			1	1		0.75	0.25			
F4-2	4.5			1.5	1		0.75	0.25			
F4-3	4			2	1		0.75	0.25			
F5-1		5	1		1.25	1		- 19-22-19-20	0.75	0.25	
F5-2		4.5	1.5			1			0.75	0.25	
F5-3		4	2			1			0.75	0.25	
F6-1		5	1		1		0.75	0.25			
F6-2		4.5	1.5		1	1	0.75	0.25	1	1	
F6-3	)	4	2		1		0.75	0.25	1		
F7-1		5		1		1	-		0.75	0.25	
F7-2		4.5		1.5		1			0.75	0.25	
F7-3		4		2		1			0.75	0.25	
F8-1		5		1	1		0.75	0.25	1.23332		
F8-2		4.5		1.5	1		0.75	0.25	1		
F8-3		4		2	1		0.75	0.25			

Table 1. Composition of blank NLC formulations

#### 2.2.3. Characterization of NLC Formulations

Particle size (z-average diameter) and polydispersity index (PDI) were measured by dynamic light scattering technique using Malvern Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern Instruments, UK) at 25 °C [8]. Zeta potential was also measured using the same instrument. Prior to measurements, the formulations were suitably diluted with distilled water (100x dilution factor) and all measurements were carried out at a scattering angle of 90° at 25 °C. Percent entrapment efficiency and drug

loading of the prepared NLC formulations were determined [9]. Entrapment efficiency was determined by calculating the entrapped drug after removal of the unentrapped drug using Amicon filters (100 kDa MWCO) centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 minutes at 20 °C. The filtrate was diluted appropriately with methanol and analyzed using a suitable HPLC method as described in the analytical method section . The following formulas were used to calculate percent entrapment efficiency and drug loading [10];

% Entrapment efficiency = 
$$\frac{Amount \ of \ RX - HCl \ entrapped \ in \ NLCs}{Amount \ of \ RX - HCl \ added \ to \ the \ formulation} * 100$$

% Drug loading =  $\frac{Amount \ of \ RX-HCl \ entrapped \ in \ NLCs}{Amount \ of \ RX-HCl \ and \ lipids \ added \ to \ the \ formulation} * 100$ 

#### 2.2.4. HPLC Analysis Method for Raloxifene Hydrochloride

RX-HCl was analyzed using HPLC (Waters Corporation) equipped with a UV-vis detector operating at 288 nm. Samples were chromatographed on a stainless steel RP-C18 column with dimensions of 250 x 4.6 mm, packed with 5  $\mu$ m particles. The mobile phase consisted of a mixture of acetonitrile (33 % v/v) and monobasic potassium phosphate buffer (67 % v/v). A flow rate of 1 mL/min and an injection volume of 10  $\mu$ L were used for analysis [11].



Figure 2. Schematic representation of preparation of RX-HCl loaded NLCs using HME technology coupled with probe sonication [3]

#### 2.2.5. In vitro Drug Release Studies

*In vitro* release of RX-HCl from NLCs was evaluated using dialysis bag diffusion technique with some modifications [12]. The receptor compartment (drug release media) consisted of 500 mL pH 6.8 phosphate buffer containing 0.5 % v/v polysorbate 80 to maintain sink conditions. The dialysis bags were soaked in the release media overnight prior to the experiment. RX-HCl loaded NLC formulation (equivalent to 18 mg of RX-HCl) was placed in the dialysis bags (12-14 kDa MWCO) and then the bags were tightly sealed at both ends to avoid any leakages. The dialysis bags were immersed in the receptor compartment placed in USP apparatus 1 vessels and maintained at 37  $\pm$  1 °C and 100 rpm. At predetermined time points, aliquots of 1 mL were withdrawn from the release media and filtered through 0.45 µm filter. The concentration of RX-HCl in the filtrate was suitably analyzed using the HPLC method as described in the analytical method section. Equal amounts (1 mL) of fresh release media were added to the receptor compartment immediately after withdrawal

to maintain a constant release media volume. All experiments were conducted in triplicate and the average values were taken. At the end of the experiment, percent drug release was calculated to determine RX-HCl release mechanism from the NLC formulations.



Figure 3. Screw configuration used for the extrusion process

#### 2.2.6. Stability Study

The physicochemical stability of the prepared NLC formulations was assessed based on particle size, polydispersity index, zeta potential, percent entrapment efficiency, and percent drug loading. These parameters were assessed at the beginning and end of the stability period. The NLC formulations were stored at 25  $^{\circ}$ C/ 60 % RH and 40  $^{\circ}$ C/ 75 % RH for a period of one month.

#### **CHAPTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### **3.1. SELECTION OF SOLID LIPIDS, LIQUID LIPIDS, AND SURFACTANTS**

The first step in the selection of lipids for the preparation of NLC formulations, is the assessment of solubility of drug in the solid and liquid lipids. This is because solubility of the drug in the lipids is one of the most important factors for determining entrapment efficiency of the drug in NLC formulations [13]. Four solid lipids, three liquid lipids, and three surfactants with different physicochemical properties were assessed for RX-HCl solubility and compatibility. With the aid of visual observation with naked eyes under normal light, solubility of RX-HCl in the lipids was based on the amount of precipitated drug at the bottom of the scintillation vials at the end of the solubility studies, and this amount of precipitated drug was inversely proportional to the solubility of RX-HCl in the lipids. Solubilization capacity of the lipids for RX-HCl was in the following order; glyceryl monostearate > compritol 888ATO > precirol ATO5 > dynasan 118 for solid lipids, and capmul MCM C8 > castor oil > labrafil M 1944 CS for the liquid lipids. Based on the results, solid lipids, glyceryl monostearate and compritol 888ATO, and liquid lipids, capmul MCM C8 and castor oil, were selected for further studies since they had a lower amount of precipitated drug compared to the other lipids, and hence had a higher solubilization capacity for RX-HCl. Surfactants, polysorbate 80 and cremophor EL were reported to be compatible with RX-HCl [14], [15].

#### **3.2. PREPARATION OF NLC FORMULATIONS**

HME technology is a continuous process of pumping raw materials at high temperatures and pressures resulting in a product of uniform shape and density [16], [17], [18]. Preparation of RX-HCL loaded NLCs involved the formation of a pre-emulsion by extruding a combination of solid lipid, RX-HCl, liquid lipid, and the aqueous phase through the HME barrel, and finally size reduction of the pre-emulsion utilizing probe sonication to obtain NLC formulations. The extruder's screw consisted of a conveying system and mixing zones which helped in transport and efficient mixing, a die at the end of the barrel, and downstream equipment that was used to collect the pre-emulsion for further processing [3]. The screw configuration is a very important aspect of HME and has a significant contribution to the characteristics of the final product [19]–[21]. The screw configuration as shown in Figure 3, had two mixing zones. The first mixing zone served the purpose of mixing the melted solid lipid and RX-HCl with the liquid lipid and the second mixing zone served the purpose of efficiently mixing the oil and aqueous phase to form a pre-emulsion that was collected in a beaker at the end of the barrel for further processing. It took about 2 hours to prepare 10 mL of the NLC formulation using the conventional method, while with the HME technique, 400 mL of the NLC formulation was produced in less than one hour. This makes the HME technique used in this study a faster and industry friendly method for the preparation of NLC formulations. Production of the NLC formulations by the conventional method is a batch process which is time consuming and may result in variability of end-product quality attributes. The HME technique used in this study is a continuous manufacturing process and is able to overcome challenges in variability of end-product quality attributes.

#### **3.3. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE NLC FORMULATIONS**

As part of the preliminary studies, two batches consisting of 48 blank NLC formulations, were prepared by the conventional probe sonication method. Composition of the blank NLC formulations is as shown in Table 1. Assessment of formulation variables of the blank NLC formulations from the 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> batches was based on particle size, PDI, and zeta potential measurements after a 14-day storage stability period. Particle size, PDI, and zeta potential are key factors for evaluating the stability of colloidal dispersions [22], [23]. Selection of formulations for further studies was based on stability results and the physical properties (e.g. gelling) of the formulations. Based on the stability results as shown in Figure 4, the 2<sup>nd</sup> batch showed a relatively more stable particle size compared to the 1<sup>st</sup> batch. On day 14, particle size was within a range of  $242.9 \pm 6.76$  to  $721.2 \pm 188.20$  for the 1<sup>st</sup> batch and  $192.9 \pm 3.28$  to  $416.9 \pm 7.90$  for the 2<sup>nd</sup> batch, and thus F4-2 and F4-3 from the 2<sup>nd</sup> batch were selected for further studies for preparation of RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations using the conventional probe sonication and HME methods. This could be explained by the tendency of the primary surfactant/co-surfactant combination of the 2<sup>nd</sup> batch to stabilize the system [24]. RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations prepared by the HME technique generally showed a lower particle size compared to the NLCs prepared by the conventional method. On Day 0, particle size of the NLCs prepared by HME was  $229.6 \pm 6.35$  and 199.5  $\pm$  1.23 for F4-2 and F4-3 respectively compared to 327.4  $\pm$  9.79 and 284.2  $\pm$  45.08 for F4-2 and F4-3 respectively for NLCs prepared by the conventional method. The reduced particle size can be explained by the additional shearing effect of the screws in the HME extrusion process that could cause a reduction in particle size of the extruded pre-emulsion material.

#### **3.4. ENTRAPMENT EFFICIENCY AND DRUG LOADING**

Percent entrapment efficiency and drug loading results for F4-2 and F4-3 RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations are as shown in Figure 5. The high entrapment efficiency values (> 90 %) can be explained by the high solubilization capacity of the lipids and a relatively high surfactant concentration that leads to increased solubility of the drug in the lipid [25]. F4-3 NLC formulations generally had relatively higher entrapment efficiency values (97.65 %  $\pm$  0.029 for the conventional method) compared to F4-2 (96.10 %  $\pm$  0.069 for the conventional method) and this can be explained by the effect of increasing the liquid lipid concentration from 1.5 % w/v in F4-2 to 2 % w/v in F4-3. High proportion of liquid lipid may help increase drug solubility in lipid matrix which leads to high entrapment efficiency [26]. NLC formulations prepared by HME showed a relatively higher entrapment efficiency and this could be explained by the high shear generated by the screws inside the barrel which may cause more interaction of drug, lipids, and surfactant resulting in a homogeneous emulsion and an increase in entrapment efficiency [16].



Figure 4. Particle size, PDI, and zeta potential for the blank NLC formulations



Figure 5. Percent entrapment efficiency and drug loading for the prepared NLC formulations

#### **3.5. IN VITRO DRUG RELEASE STUDIES**

RX-HCl is very slightly soluble in water and so, 0.5% v/v Polysorbate 80 was added to the release media in order to increase its saturation solubility, as well as to maintain the sink condition. *In vitro* release of RX-HCl from the F4-2 and F4-3 optimized formulations prepared by the conventional method and HME technology, was compared to the release of the pure drug over a period of 30 hours. The release profile of the prepared NLC formulations is as shown in Figure 6. The amount of RX-HCl released from the NLC formulations was determined by an *in vitro* dialysis bag that retained the NLC particles, whereas the drug released from the NLCs diffused through the dialysis membrane into the release media. It can be observed that the pure drug showed a faster rate of drug release in the first 8 hours compared to the RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations which

showed a sustained release of RX-HCl, and from the 8<sup>th</sup> to the 30<sup>th</sup> hour, the pure drug showed a much slower rate of drug release compared to the drug loaded NLCs. This indicates that lipid carriers play a predominant role in sustaining the drug release. The sustained release of the drug from the NLC formulations may be explained by the increased diffusional distance and hindering effects of the surrounding solid lipid shell. It has also been reported that a reduced particle size (in the nm range) as seen in the NLC formulations, provides sustained drug delivery [4]. Based on statistical analysis, there was a significant difference in dissolution profile between the drug loaded NLCs and the pure drug as follows: t = -1.092, p < 0.05 and t = -0.959, p < 0.05 for F4-2 and F4-3 formulations prepared by the conventional method respectively, and t = -0.983, p < 0.05 and t =-0.655, p < 0.05 for F4-2 and F4-3 formulations prepared by HME technology respectively. F4-3 NLC formulations generally showed a higher dissolution rate than the F4-2 NLC formulations and this may be explained by the decrease of the solid lipid amount and increase in liquid lipid amount in F4-3 NLC formulations that could cause a reduction of formulation viscosity and hence lead to an increase in dissolution rate. NLC formulations prepared by HME also showed a higher dissolution rate than those prepared by the conventional method. Based on statistical analysis, there was a significant difference (t = -2.398, p < 0.05 and t = -4.309, p < 0.05 for F4-2 and F4-3 respectively) in dissolution profile between formulations prepared by the conventional method and those prepared by HME technology. This effect could have resulted from the further reduction of particle size and increase in surface area of the NLC formulations prepared by the HME method. According to Nernst-Noyes-Whitney equation, which describes the dissolution rate of drug in a diffusion-controlled process, an increase in the surface area could result in an increase in the dissolution rate [27]–[30].



Figure 6. In vitro drug release profile of the prepared RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations

#### **3.6. STABILITY STUDIES**

Stability results are as shown in Table 2. Particle size, PDI, and zeta potential are key factors for evaluating the stability of colloidal dispersions [22], [23]. Based on statistical analysis, there was a significant difference in particle size between Day 0 and Day 30 for formulations prepared by the conventional method and stored at 25 °C/ 60 % RH (t = -20.111, p < 0.05) and 40 °C/ 75 % RH (t = -1.129, p < 0.05); and also a significant difference for formulations prepared by HME technology and stored at 25 °C/ 60 % RH (t = -4.901, p < 0.05) and 40 °C/ 75 % RH (t = -118.5, p < 0.05). Despite these differences, the particle size of the NLC formulations were kept within a

desirable submicron range (less than 300 nm) except for F4-3 prepared by the conventional method that had a particle size of  $483.9 \pm 8.85$  on day 30. The higher particle size of F4-3 could be explained by the low negative zeta potential value (-17.9  $\pm$  2.63) on day 30 that could cause flocculation of the nanoparticles. There was a significant difference (t = 13.931, p < 0.05) in particle size on day 0 between NLC formulations prepared by the conventional method and HME technology. The low particle size of the NLCs prepared by HME could be explained by the additional shearing effect of the screws in the HME extrusion process that could cause a reduction in particle size. A low PDI value indicates a narrow size distribution, whereas a high PDI value indicates a broad size distribution [31]. Usually a PDI value below 0.5 is acceptable [31]. All PDI values were within an acceptable range ( $\leq 0.523$ ), and thus the change in PDI was not considered to be significant in the present study. The amount of charge on the particle surface is one of the important characteristics giving information on the tendency of nanoparticles to agglomerate and on their long-term stability [4], [32]. A zeta potential greater than -60 mV is known to require for excellent physical stability of nanoparticles, whereas greater than -30 mV it indicates good electrostatic stabilization and good physical stability [4], [33]. All zeta potential values were within an acceptable range of -15 to -30 mV, and thus the change in zeta potential was not considered to be significant in the present study.

In the present study, all PDI and zeta potential values were kept within an acceptable range, and this indicates good physical stability of the prepared NLC formulations.

Preparation	Formulation	Particle Size (nm)				PDI		Zeta Potential (mV)		
Method		Day 0	Day 30		Day 0	Day	y 30	Den ()	Day 30	
			25 °C/ 60 % RH	40 °C/ 75 % RH	1 Day U	25 °C/ 60 % RH	40 °C/ 75 % RH	Day U	25 °C/ 60 % RH	40 °C/ 75 % RH
Conventional Mothod	F4-2	327.4±9.79	336.9 ± 3.26	483.9±8.85	0.426 ± 0.03	0.513 ± 0.04	0.523 ± 0.05	-18.1±1.88	-19.1 ± 0.21	-17.9±2.63
Method	F4-3	284.2 ± 45.08	292.8 ± 24.70	293.7±11.84	0. <mark>4</mark> 32 ± 0.03	0.417 ± 0.02	0.389±0.01	-25.2 ± 0.23	-24.1 ± 1.37	-20.5 ± 1.21
HME	F4-2	229.6±6.34	259.4±11.25	276.6±8.53	0.347 ± 0.08	0.434 ± 0.03	0.464 ± 0.03	-17.9±0.55	-17.5 ± 1.91	-26.6 ± 1.29
	F4-3	199.5±1.23	219.2 ± 10.25	247.3 ± 3.80	0.376±0.04	0.412 ± 0.06	0.448 ± 0.04	-22.7±0.66	-25.3 ± 0.70	-20.5 ± 1.21

 Table 2. Particle size, PDI, and zeta potential of the drug loaded NLCs

#### **CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION**

HME technology coupled with probe sonication was successfully utilized to prepare RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations as a continuous manufacturing process with shorter processing times as compared to the conventional method. HME coupled with probe sonication is a continuous manufacturing process that is able to overcome challenges in variability of end-product quality attributes that are common with the conventional batch process. Results from this study suggest an efficient method that can be used to prepare RX-HCl loaded NLC formulations with extended drug release and good physical stability, and hence could provide a better regimen for the prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis

BIBLIOGRAPHY

 R. Muller H., S. Pricilla, and K. M. Cornelia, "Nanostructured Lipid Carriers (NLC): The Second Generation of Solid Lipid Nanoparticles," *Percutaneous Penetration Enhanc. Chem. Methods Penetration Enhanc. Nanocarriers*, pp. 1–384, 2016.

- [2] W. Xu and M. K. Lee, "Development and evaluation of lipid nanoparticles for paclitaxel delivery: a comparison between solid lipid nanoparticles and nanostructured lipid carriers," *J. Pharm. Investig.*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 675–680, 2015.
- [3] A. M. Bhagurkar, M. A. Repka, and S. N. Murthy, "A Novel Approach for the Development of a Nanostructured Lipid Carrier Formulation by Hot-Melt Extrusion Technology," *J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 1085–1091, 2017.
- [4] M. Uner, "Characterization and Imaging of Solid Lipid Nanoparticles and Nanostructured Lipid Carriers," pp. 1–25, 2015.
- [5] H. Patil, R. V. Tiwari, and M. A. Repka, "Hot-Melt Extrusion: from Theory to Application in Pharmaceutical Formulation," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 20– 42, 2016.
- [6] A. M. Agrawal, M. S. Dudhedia, and E. Zimny, "Hot Melt Extrusion: Development of an Amorphous Solid Dispersion for an Insoluble Drug from Mini-scale to Clinical Scale," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 133–147, 2016.
- S. Kalepu, "Development of Novel Lipid Based Drug Delivery System for Raloxifene Hydrochloride," *Int. Res. J. Pharm.*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 166–173, 2012.

- [8] S. Das, W. Kiong, and R. B. H. Tan, "European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Are nanostructured lipid carriers (NLCs) better than solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs):
   Development, characterizations and comparative evaluations of clotrimazole-loaded SLNs and NLCs?," *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 139–151, 2012.
- [9] R. Velmurugan and S. Selvamuthukumar, "Development and optimization of ifosfamide nanostructured lipid carriers for oral delivery using response surface methodology," 2015.
- [10] H. Shete and V. Patravale, "Long chain lipid based tamoxifen NLC. Part I: Preformulation studies, formulation development and physicochemical characterization," *Int. J. Pharm.*, 2013.
- Pharmacopeial Forum, "USP Reference Standards <11>; USP Raloxifene Hydrochloride
   RS," vol. 33, no. 4, p. 673, 2000.
- [12] M. Elmowafy, K. Shalaby, M. M. Badran, H. M. Ali, M. S. Abdel-Bakky, and I. El-Bagory, "Fatty alcohol containing nanostructured lipid carrier (NLC) for progesterone oral delivery: In vitro and ex vivo studies," *J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 45, no. March, pp. 230–239, 2018.
- [13] P. A. Hanna, M. M. Ghorab, and S. Gad, "Development of Betamethasone Dipropionate-Loaded Nanostructured Lipid Carriers for Topical and Transdermal Delivery," *Antiinflamm. Antiallergy. Agents Med. Chem.*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 26–44, 2018.
- [14] M. Burra et al., "Enhanced intestinal absorption and bioavailability of raloxifene

hydrochloride via lyophilized solid lipid nanoparticles," *Adv. Powder Technol.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 393–402, 2013.

- [15] M. A. Elsheikh, Y. S. R. Elnaggar, E. Y. Gohar, and O. Y. Abdallah, "Nanoemulsion liquid preconcentrates for raloxifene hydrochloride: Optimization and in vivo appraisal," *Int. J. Nanomedicine*, vol. 7, pp. 3787–3802, 2012.
- [16] H. Patil, X. Feng, X. Ye, S. Majumdar, and M. A. Repka, "Continuous Production of Fenofibrate Solid Lipid Nanoparticles by Hot-Melt Extrusion Technology : a Systematic Study Based on a Quality by Design Approach," vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 194–205, 2015.
- [17] Y. Zhang, R. Luo, Y. Chen, X. Ke, D. Hu, and M. Han, "Application of carrier and plasticizer to improve the dissolution and bioavailability of poorly water-soluble baicalein by hot melt extrusion," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 560–568, 2014.
- [18] M. M. Crowley *et al.*, "Pharmaceutical applications of hot-melt extrusion: Part I," *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm.*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 909–926, 2007.
- [19] S. Shah, S. Maddineni, J. Lu, and M. A. Repka, "Melt extrusion with poorly soluble drugs," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 453, no. 1, pp. 233–252, 2013.
- [20] B. B. Alsulays *et al.*, "Influence of molecular weight of carriers and processing parameters on the extrudability, drug release, and stability of fenofibrate formulations processed by hot-melt extrusion," *J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 29, pp. 189–198, 2015.
- [21] J. T. Morott et al., "The effects of screw configuration and polymeric carriers on hot-melt

extruded taste-masked formulations incorporated into orally disintegrating tablets," *J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 104, no. 1, pp. 124–134, 2015.

- [22] F. Q. Hu, S. P. Jiang, Y. Z. Du, H. Yuan, Y. Q. Ye, and S. Zeng, "Preparation and characterization of stearic acid nanostructured lipid carriers by solvent diffusion method in an aqueous system," *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces*, vol. 45, no. 3–4, pp. 167–173, 2005.
- [23] Y. Hayata, "NII-Electronic Library Service," Chem. Pharm. Bull., no. 43, p. 2091, 2002.
- [24] N. Sharma, P. Madan, and S. Lin, "Effect of process and formulation variables on the preparation of parenteral paclitaxel-loaded biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles: A cosurfactant study," *Asian J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 404–416, 2016.
- [25] P. Ekambaram and A. Abdul Hasan Sathali, "Formulation and evaluation of solid lipid nanoparticles of ramipril," *J. Young Pharm.*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 216–220, 2011.
- [26] N. V Shah, A. K. Seth, R. Balaraman, C. J. Aundhia, R. A. Maheshwari, and G. R.
   Parmar, "Nanostructured lipid carriers for oral bioavailability enhancement of raloxifene : Design and in vivo study," *J. Adv. Res.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 423–434, 2016.
- [27] D. J. Van, "Combining the incompatible Chapter 3 Anomalous dissolution behaviour of tablets prepared from sugar glass based solid dispersions," 2006.
- [28] M. Mosharraf and C. Nyström, "The effect of particle size and shape on the surface specific dissolution rate of microsized practically insoluble drugs," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol.

122, no. 1–2, pp. 35–47, 1995.

- [29] Q. P. Huang, J. X. Wang, Z. B. Zhang, Z. G. Shen, J. F. Chen, and J. Yun, "Preparation of ultrafine fenofibrate powder by solidification process from emulsion," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 368, no. 1–2, pp. 160–164, 2009.
- [30] R. H. Muller, "Nanosuspensions for the formulation of poorly soluble drugs I. Preparation by a size-reduction technique," *Avoid. Common Nurs. Errors*, vol. 160, p. 351, 2012.
- [31] X. Ye *et al.*, "Conjugation of Hot-Melt Extrusion with High-Pressure Homogenization: a Novel Method of Continuously Preparing Nanocrystal Solid Dispersions," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 78–88, 2016.
- [32] W. Mehnert and K. Mader, "Solid lipid nanoparticles: production, characterization and applications," *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, vol. 47, no. 2–3, pp. 165–196, 2001.
- [33] C. Freitas and R. H. Müller, "Effect of light and temperature on zeta potential and physical stability in solid lipid nanoparticle (SLN®) dispersions," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 168, no. 2, pp. 221–229, 1998.

### VITA

#### **EDUCATION**

Mbarara University of Science and Technology, Mbarara, Uganda

August 2011 - May 2015; Bachelor of Pharmacy Degree.

#### **PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE**

CMC Global Regulatory Affairs & Clinical Safety Intern June 2019 – August 2019

Merck Research Laboratories, Merck & Co., Inc., Kenilworth NJ, USA

Health Supply Chain Pharmacist

March 2017 - July 2018

Center for Health Systems Strengthening, Medical Access Uganda Limited, Uganda